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Eine kurze Geschichte der mineralogischen und petrographischen Abteilung
des Ungarischen Naturwissenschaftlichen Museums

Zusammenfassung

Die Sammlung der Mineralogischen und Petrographischen Abteilung des beriihmten Ungarischen Naturwissenschaftlichen Museums war eine der
besten dieser Art bis zu ihrem Abbrand im Jahre 1956. Diese Arbeit enthdlt kurz und pragnant die wichtigsten Ereignisse dieser Abteilung, inclusive die
Zunahme und den Verlust der Sammiungen, die Richtlinien der lingeren Aussteltungen, die Richtungen und Ergebnisse der wissenschaftlichen
Forschungen. Die Arbeit zeigt den gegenwartigen Zustand der Sammlung, der Apparate, der Ausstellung und der Personalien.

Abstract

The Mineralogical and Petrological Department of the Hungarian Natural History Museum with a great past was admittedly one of the largest and
most valuable collections in this field up to the tragic fire in 1956. In this paper the most important events of its history including the enrichments or
losses of the collections, the main topics of the fong lasting exhibitions, the trends and important achivements of the scientific research as well as the
present status of the collections, exhibitions, instrumentations and personal staff are briefly summarized.

1. The Early Years

The National Library was founded in 1802. Count F. SzE-
CHENYiinitiated the foundation by donating his highly valu-
able collections to the Nation and palatine JOSEPH HABS-
BURG (the highest administrative dignitary in the country at
that time) instituted the foundation of the National Mu-
seum including the National Library. Palatine JOSEPH was
the first to present specimens of minerals and a large

collection was given by countess JULIANNA FESTETICS, wife
of the founder.

in 1809 NAPOLEONS army reached the town Gydr, where
it gained victory over the Hungarian troops. In fear of NA-
POLEONs army the collections of the Museum were moved
to Nagyvéarad (Oradea, Grosswardein), some 250 kms
from the capital. When the political situation normalized
the collections were transported back to the Museum.

*) Author’s address: Dr. GEza SzENDREI, senior researcher, Hungarian Natural History Museum, Mineralogical and Petrological Department, Mizeum

krt. 14-16, H-1088 Budapest, Hungary.

163



In 1810 the mineral collection was systematically ar-
ranged by L. TEHEL, the first custos of the natural history
collection who originally was the municipal physician by
profession.

The first meteorite specimen (from Lénartd, Lenartov)
was donated to the Museum in 1815 by J. KaPY.

In 1816 L. TEHEL, the first custos, died and J. JONAS
(1787-1821) was employed. He was a mineralogist, educ-
ated at the famous Mining Academy of Selmecbanya
(Schemnitz, Banska Stiavnica). His early death was a
great loss and due to the absence of a mineralogist in the
Museum the development of the mineralogical collection
slowed down for several decades to come (CsIKY, 1987).

The collection was removed to a safer place in 1838 be-
ing in imminent danger from the flood of the river Danube.
This removal unfortunately caused serious losses, which
initiated the purchase and partly donations of large collec-
tions representing great values (like SzAJBELYS, FAUSERS,
BRUNSWICKs and FORRAYS).

Between 1837 and 1847 the neo-classical building of
the museum was erected: adesign of the famous architect
M. PoLLACK. Later on, within the National Museum, the De-
partment of Natural History was separated from the other
collections, which eventually was further subdivided into
different independent departments like the Mineralogical
and Paleontological Department (KRENNER et al., 1902).

2. The Golden Age

Since 1870 J. KRENNER (Fig. 1) held the leading position
in the Mineralogical Section.

Fig. 1.
JoserH KRenNER, director of the Mineralogical and Paleontological De-
partment from 1870 till 1919.

He decided to fundamentally change the deteriorated
condition of the collection. So at first he won two pivotal
men for his plan: F. PuLszky and A. SEMSEY. The former
was the highly cultured and open-minded new director of
the National Museum, whom J. KRENNER could convince
that a country rich in mining and in minerals should have
such a large collection, which could meet both scientific
and public requirements.

That time the prince J. LoBkOwITZs collection was for
sale. F. PuLszky gained the constent of the financial and
administrative establishment to assure the financial
means. The LoBkowITZs collection consisting of 41,000
specimens was bought in 1870 (KRENNER, 1871).

The beauty and the great scientific value of J. LOBKO-
wiTZs collection deeply impressed A. SEMSEY, (Fig. 2.) a
rich landowner, who was the second person whom J.
KRENNER won over to support the mineralogical collection.
As an example, A. SEMSEY gave 17,000 francs to J. KREN-
NER to buy the most valuable minerals displayed at the
EXPO in Paris, 1878. A. SEMSEY subsidized altogether
68,000 specimens in an estimated value of 1 million gold
crowns. He bought scientific books and equipments for
the department and also supported foreign study tours of
the staff-members to collect minerals. He subsidized the
other branches of the science too, i.e. the Botanical, Pa-
leontological and Zoological Sections of the Museum,
Mineralogical and Petrologica Department of the Univer-
sity and the Royal Geological Institute.

To acknowledge his merits he received different awards
and was appointed life member of the Upper House of the
Parliament, member of the council of the Hungarian
Academy of Sciences. He was honorary director of the

Fig. 2.
AnDOR SEMSEY, the generous maecenas of the Mineralogical and Paleon-
tological Department.
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Royal Geological Institute and of the Mineralogical and
Paleontological Department of the Museum. The Univer-
sity conferred honorary doctor’s degree. For his imperish-
able service in mineralogy and museology in general, min-
erals like semseyite and andorite, were named after him
(EMBEY-1SZTIN, 1984; MAURITZ 1924).

J. KRENNER (1839-1920) was born into a civil family in
1839 in Pest. He attended Technical University in Hungary.
J. KRENNER obtained his doctor’s degree at the depart-
ment headed by Prof. FA. QUENSTEDT, University Tu-
bingen. He had vocation for arts as well. He was a good
drawer and painter, he could make extremely fine drawings
of minerals, geological sections etc. He was very talented
for music too. He played the violin, sometimes took over
the role of the a first violinist in the orchestra of the Opera.
J. KRENNER was a great personality in his branch of scien-
ce, achieving superb results including the discovery of
new minerals like andorite, fizelyite, kornelite, lorandite,
rhomboclase, schafarzikite, semseyite, szomolnikite etc.
His merits were acknowledged. He was appointed to be
head of the Mineralogical Department at the Technical
University and later on at the University of Budapest. In
1874 he was elected corresponding member of the Hun-
garian Academy of Sciences and in 1888 he became
academician. On the occasion of the centenary of the
foundation of the National Museum he was desiganted to
aulic councellor (KocH, 1952; 1987; MAURITZ 1933).

In 1914 after the outbreak of the First World War, A. SE-
MSEY renounced the world. During the First World War the
financial support diminished, the foreign relations
dwindled, no expedition was organized and the enrich-
ment of the collection ceased. After the war, owing to the
Trianon peace pact, two-thirds of Hungary were lost in-
cluding important mining areas, and the situation further
worsened.

The excellent team (J. KRENNER, A. FRANZENAU, K. Zi-
MANYI, J. LOCZKA and the greatest patron of earth sciences
in Hungary A. SEMSEY) fell to pieces. After the First World
War A. FRANZENAU, J. KRENNER and A. SEMSEY passed
away. Thus, the golden age of the mineralogical collection
falling to the time of the fruitful cooperation of an unself-
ish, generous maecenas A. SEMSEY and a great mineralo-
gist J. KRENNER came to an end.

3. After World War |

in 1919 the new director of the department was K. ZiMAN-
vl (1862-1941). He worked as assistant of J.KRENNER at
the Mineralogical and Geological Department of the Tech-
nical University in Budapest. He was appointed to be head
of the Department of Mineralogy and Paleontology of the
Museum in 1895. He was devoted to descriptive minera-
logy. In 1904 he was elected to be corresponding member
of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences, in 1921 to be
academician and in 1940 to be honorary member. His
great merit was that he finished the unpublished works of
J. KRENNER (ZSIVNYI, 1941, 1942).

In 1920 two new staff-members M. VENDL and S. KOCH
were appointed to the Department.

MARIA VENDL (1890-1945) attended the University of
Budapest, receiving her doctor’s degree in 1917. She was
the first female mineralogist and the first women ap-
pointed professor in Hungary (JANKOVITSNE STEINERT KA-
TALIN, 1945/46).

S. KOCH (1896-1983) was born into a family who loved
natural history. He started to collect minerals when he was

six years old. At the University of Budapest he studied
chemistry and natural history. He was also one of KREN-
NERs students. After finishing the University he was em-
ployed at the Mineralogical and Paleontological Depart-
ment until 1935. His main work was devoted to the topo-
graphical mineralogy of Hungary which was summarized
in the handbook “Minerals of Hungary” (GRASSELY, 1984;
KocH, 1987).

K. ZIMANYI retired as a director in 1932 and V. ZSIVNY
(1886-1953) was appointed to be head of the Department
which position he held until 1943. He studied chemical en-
gineering at the Technical University in Budapest. Since
1912 V. ZsIvNY was employed at the chemical laboratory of
the Mineralogical and Paleontological Department. His
main field was mineral chemistry. He discovered three
minerals like klebersbergite, parajamesonite and a fossile
amber from Kiscell (TOkoDY, 1954).

In 1939 the department was separated into two parts:
Mineralogical-Petrological and Geological-Paleontologic-
al Department (KECSKEMETI & NAGY, 1987).

Since 1943 L. TokoDy (1898-1964) headed the Depart-
ment. He attended the subjects geography and natural
history at the University of Budapest. He was an assistant
at the Department of Mineralogy and Geology, Technical
University in Budapest. Since 1933 he taught at secon-
dary schools for ten years. In 1943 he returned back to
mineralogy as the director of the Mineralogical and Petro-
logical Department. He was the last classical crystallogra-
pher in Hungary. He was elected corresponding member
of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences in 1941 (BIDLO,
1981; VINCZENE SZEBERENYI HELGA, 1984).

In this period J. ERDELY! (1905-1976) and MARGIT HERR-
MANN (1889-1957) also worked in the Department. The re-
search field of J. ERDELYI was crystallography and crys-
talchemistry. MARGIT HERRMANN was mainly devoted to
petrology of magmatic and sedimentary rocks.

4. The 1956 Uprising

During the uprising of 1956 a fire destroyed a part of the
building including our departments. The Museum was cl-
ose to the House of the Broadcasting Service, where hea-
vy fights took place and one of the missiles hit our De-
partment. The fire-fighting was impeded. Almost 80 % of
the collection perished in the fire (BOROS, 1957). L. TOKODY
was very active to make up for the losses, but the great
tragedy of his beloved collection and his serious illness
broke him down and he died in 1964. He was followed as a
leader of the Department by Cs. Ravasz and D. JANOSSY, D.
Sc. Since 1979 A. EMBEY-ISZTIN, C. Sc., is the acting direc-
tor of the Department.

To retrieve the losses suffered in 1956 many museums,
university departments, institutions and organizations
helped our Museum with valuable specimens. Individual
persons also donated material to our museum and some
private collections were purchased too like those of Ku-
PASs, WEISERs and PECZELYs (VINCZENE SZEBERENY| HELGA,
1983).

5. The Collection, Exhibitions
In spite of our limited means considerable efforts have
been made by the staff-members of the collection to com-

pensate the heavy losses. But more than 30 years after the
collection is still far from the former high standard.
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The progress and history of the collection are perhaps
better illustrated with some figures:

— In 1821 the collection consisted of 8,451 specimens
(minerals, rocks and fossils) and 5 meteorites.

- In the year of the centenary (1902) the total numer of the
specimens was 87,173 (minerals, rocks, fossils and me-
teoritesn (the Mineralogical and Paleontological De-
partments were not yet separated).

- In 1956 (before the fire) the total number of specimens
including meteorites, minerals and rocks was 132,000.
80 % of one of the world s biggest collections perished
in the fire.

- In 1961 the total number was 24,000.

— In 1990 the total number of specimens was 70,914 in-
cluding 651 meteorites, 51,779 minerals and 18,484
rocks. In the last 30 years the size of the collection was
nearly trebled.

The collectionis arranged the following manner. There is
a separate meteorite collection consisting of 651 spe-
cimens. The mineral collection is arranged according to
the mineral system published by K. SzTROKAY (KOCH &
SZTROKAY, 1967). The same mineral species is grouped ac-
cording a geographical system of their locality and therein
by the inventory number. The rock specimens are in the
order of their inventory number.

During the “MinPet 90” symposium a special exhibition
“Epidote-125 years Knappenwand” was presented at
Neukirchen am Grossvenediger. The best specimens of
our collection were displayed in the exhibition. AlImost 250
epidotes from approximately 100 localities are in our col-
lection. The most valuable epidotes are from the localities
of the Alps and 25 % from Austria.

The first exhibition was arranged by M. HORNES (Minera-
logical Cabinet, Vienna) according to the Mohs system in
four specimen cases in two rooms of our Museum in
1850.

In the year of centenary the minerals were displayed in 5
rooms according the Dana-system. In addition specimens
of meteorites, precious and ornamental stones, rocks and
minerals from Hungary were shown too.

After the Second World War a new exhibition was
opened in 1952. In the first room general mineralogy was
on stage. In the second and third rooms minerals accord-
ing to the system published by B. MAURITZ (B. MAURITZ & A.
VENDL, 1942) were put on show. In the fourth room the
rocks were displayed and the fifth room illustrates their
practical significance (“Minerals, rocks and man”). In a
room adjoining those of the mineralogical exhibition the
reliquies of Hungarian Mineralogy, Petrology and Mining
were on stage (BOROS, 1952).

This exhibition perished in the fire in 1956. A new exhibi-
tion “The world of minerals and rocks” was opened in
1962. The main lines of general mineralogy were shown in
the first room, whereas the mineral system was staged in
the second one. In the third room the main types of rocks
were displayed. A separate part was devoted to show the
minerals of Hungary, and the minerals described by Hun-
garian scientists or from Hungarian mines as well the his-
tory of mineralogy in the country.

The exhibition was ordered to be pulled down in 1988,
Last year a temporary exhibition “KRENNERS life and activ-
ity” was opened on the occasion of the 150th anniversary
of his birth. Nowadays the minerals are displayed only in a
part of a temporary exhibition “Miracles of the nature”.

The exhibition of the Fersman Museum (Moscow) was
opened in our rooms showing an unique assortment of
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their highly valuable collections in 1986. Next year our De-
partment was invited to Vichy (France) to show the miner-
als and rocks of Hungary together with the fossils and
geological objects of the country (cooperation with the
Paleontological and Geological Department).

Concerning the means of the Department in order to de-
termine or investigate of minerals are very poor.

Our staff members comprise: four mineralogists, one
typist, one cleaner, one thin section maker (part-time).

All four mineralogists have their M. Sc. (Geol.) and ob-
tained doctor’s degree at the E6tvds Lorand University in
Budapest.

Acknowledgements

The author wishes to express his gratitude to Dr. A. EMBEY-ISzTIN, to Dr.
G. Papp, Dr. HELGA VINCZE-SZEBERENYI and to Dr. L. ZomBORY for their valu-
able comments.

References

BIDLO, G.: Emlékezés Tokody Laszléra (Commemoration on L.
Tokody). — Féldt. Tud.tért. Evk., 8, (1979) 107-113, Budapest
1981.

BoRoS, I.: The Exhibitions of the Hungarian National Museum,
Museum of Natural History. — Ann. Hist. Nat. Mus. Hung., 3,
295-309, Budapest 1952.

BoOROS, |.: The Tragedy of the Hungarian Natural History Museum.
- Ann. Hist. Nat. Mus. Hung., 8, 491-505, Budapest 1957.

CsIKyY, G.: Jonas Jozsef élete és mive. (Szlletése 200. évfordu-
16jan) (Jozsef Jonas life and work on the occasion of the 200th
anniversary of his birth). - Foldt. Kézl., 117, 141-151, Budapest
1987.

EMBEY-ISZTIN, A.: Megemlékezés Semsey Andorrél sziletésének
150. és halalanak 60. évforduléjan (In memory of the 150th birth-
day and 60t death day of A. Semsey. - Foldt. Kozl., 114,
385-386, Budapest 1984.

GRASSELLY, Gy.: Koch Sandor 1896-1983. — Foldt. Kozl., 114,
433-438, Budapest 1984.

JANKOVITSNE STEINERT, K.: Dudichné Vend| Maria emiékezete (In
memory of Mrs. Ducich, Maria Vendl). — Féldt.Kozl., 75-76,
1-6, Budapest 1945/46.

KECSKEMETI, T. & NAGY, |.Z.: Paleontological Collections of the
Hungarian Natural History Museum (Budapest). — Rock, Fossils
and History. ltalian-Hungarian Relations in the Field of Geolo-
gy. Annals of the History of the Hungarian Geology. Special Is-
sue, 151-155, Budapest (Hungarian Geological Society) 1987.

KocH, S.: A magyar asvanytan térténete (The history of minera-
logy in Hungary). - 118 S., Budapest (Akadémiai Kiadd) 1952.

KocH, S.: The mineral collection of the Hungarian National Mu-
seum. - Acta Miner. Petrogr. Szeged, 9., 3—-4, Szeged 1956.

KocH, S.: Emlékezés (Recollections). — 32 S. Miskolc, (ELTE TTK
KISz Bizottsag) 1987.

KocH, S. & SzTROKAY, K.I.: Asvanytan (Mineralogy). — 438 S., Bu-
dapest (Tankdnyvkiado6) 1955.

KRENNER, J.: A Lobkowitz-féle asvanygy(jteményr&l (On the Duke
Lobkowitz collection of minerals). — Term.tud. K&zl., 37-39, Bu-
dapest 1871.

KRENNER, J.et al.: A Magyar Nemzeti Mzeum Asvany-Oslénytara
(The history of the Mineralogical and Paleontological Depart-
ment of the Hungarian National Museum). - 28 S., Budapest
(Hornyanszky Viktor Csaszari és Kiralyi udvari konyvnyomdaja)
1902.

MAURITZ, B.: Emlékbeszéd semsei Semsey Andor tiszteleti tag
felett (In commemoration of Andor Semsey, honorary member).
- Féldt. Kozl., 74, 125-127, Budapest 1924.



MAuURITZ, B.: Krenner Jozsef emlékezete (To the memory of Joszef
Krenner). - 27 S., Budapest, (Magyar Tudomanyos Akadémia)
1933.

MAURITZ, B. & VENDL, A.: Asvanytan |-l (Mineralogy I-Il. - 516 S.,
503 S., Budapest (Kir. M. Egyetemi Nyomda) 1942.

SzEKYNE Fux, V.: Herrmann Margit emlékezete (In memory of Mar-
git Herrmann). - Foldt. Kozl., 87, 22-26., Budapest 1958.

SzTROKAY, K.: Dr. Erdélyi Janos emlékezete (In memory of Dr. Ja-
nos Erdélyi). - Magyar All. Foldt. Int. Evi Jel. az 1978 évrdl.,
29-38., Budapest 1978.

Tokoby, L.: Zsivny Viktor emlékezete (In memory of Victor Zsivny).
- Féldt.KozI., 84, 178-179, Budapest 1954.

VINCZENE SZEBERENYI, H.: Kristalyos kincsek (Crystal Treasures). —
Elet és Tudomany, 20, 624-627, Budapest 1983.

VINCZENE SZEBERENYI, H.: Dr. L.Tokodys Andenken (1898-1964). -
Ann. Hist. Nat. Mus. Hung., 86, 9-10, Budapest 1984.

ZSIVNYI, V.: Zimanyi Karoly. - Foldt. Ert., 6, 1-3., Budapest 1941.

ZsIvNYI, V.: Emlékbeszéd Dr. Zimanyi Karoly tiszteleti tag folott
(Gedenkreden an Dr. Karl Zimanyi). — Foldt. Kézl., 72, 1-17, Bu-
dapest 1942.

Received 28.12. 1990 % Accepted 30. 3. 1992

167



	Szendrei, Geza: A Brief History of the Mineralogical and Petrological Department of the Hungarian Natural History Museum.- Abhandlungen der Geologischen Bundesanstalt, 49, S.163-167, 1993.
	Seite 164
	Seite 165
	Seite 166
	Seite 167

